FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/27/2024 3:48 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 103024-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

SERGEY KOVALENKO, Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS KATE R. HUBER Attorneys for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711 katehuber@washapp.org wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. INTRODUCTION

Sergey Kovalenko is a Russian immigrant who faced serious allegations that he abused his children. Yet the trial court refused to remove a juror who expressed an inability to be fair given the nature of the charges and Mr. Kovalenko's failure to become more American. It also commented on the evidence by instructing jurors the alleged victims' testimony shall not require corroboration. And it failed to provide Mr. Kovalenko with word for word translation of all trial testimony.

The published Court of Appeals decision contains multiple significant flaws. It creates a new rule regarding preservation of for-cause challenges, disregarding this Court's cases holding that exhaustion of peremptory challenges preserves an objection to a biased juror who serves in the case. The Court of Appeals added a further requirement that if it was possible for the person to use a peremptory challenge against the juror, the failure to do so waives the error. The Court of Appeals also refused to address a court instruction that commented on the evidence by telling jurors they "shall not" require evidence corroborating the complaining witnesses' allegations. This controversial instruction has been repeatedly called into question by the Court of Appeals but it insists only this Court has the authority to deem the instruction erroneous.

These issues and others addressed below involve matters of substantial public interest in a published decision. Review should be granted.

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Sergey Kovalenko, petitioner here and appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals published decision terminating review dated April 15, 2024, *State v. Kovalenko*, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 546 P.3d 514 (2024). RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. The Court of Appeals invented a new requirement to preserve a challenge to a biased juror, insisting a challenge is waived if the person could have exercised a peremptory to excuse the biased juror, even if the court erroneously denied a cause challenge and the party exhausted their limited peremptory strikes. This decision is contrary to this Court's precedent. It creates unnecessary impediments to ensuring fair, impartial jurors. This Court should accept review to address this significant constitutional question involving substantial public interests and to reverse the opinion that conflicts with cases from this Court and the Court of Appeals.

The right to an impartial jury require courts to dismiss
 biased jurors even in the absence of a for-cause challenge.
 Courts must be especially vigilant in questioning and removing
 jurors who express race, ethnic, or nationality-based biases. In
 addition to erroneously denying Mr. Kovalenko's motion to
 strike Juror 9 based on her inability to be fair and impartial, the

trial court ignored Juror 9's disparaging comments about Mr. Kovalenko's foreign upbringing and need for an interpreter. The court's seating of Juror 9 without investigating her negative comments about Mr. Kovalenko's nationality and use of an interpreter deprived him of an impartial jury free from racial, ethnic, and nationality bias, contrary to this Court's efforts to eradicate these biases from our legal system.

3. In 1949, this Court approved of an instruction telling jurors the State is not required to corroborate an alleged victim's testimony in a sexual assault case.¹ Many Court of Appeals decisions have expressed doubt about *Clayton* but said they are bound by it. A number of other states have rejected similar no-corroboration instructions. This Court should grant review of the published Court of Appeals decision because the Court of Appeals cannot overrule *Clayton*, *Clayton* is based on outmoded perceptions, and it is improper for trial courts to

¹ *State v. Clayton*, 32 Wn.2d 571, 577-78, 202 P.2d 922 (1949).

comment on the evidence by signaling out the complaining witness's testimony as subject to less rigorous scrutiny.

4. Prosecutor's questions and arguments based on racial, ethnic, or religious stereotypes are antithetical to a fair and impartial trial. Here, the prosecution improperly attacked Mr. Kovalenko's religion in its witness examinations and closing arguments, inflaming the passions of the jury. By portraying Mr. Kovalenko as a religious radical and arguing law enforcement saved his children, whereas God did not protect them, the prosecution engaged in religious-based misconduct.

5. Mr. Kovalenko, a Russian speaker, requested "word for word" interpretation at his trial and never waived that request. Despite this, he did not receive interpretation of key testimony that was read into the record, including a pretrial hearing of the alleged victim's testimony and a reenactment of Mr. Kovalenko's direct examination. The failure to simultaneously interpret these crucial parts of the trial violated

Mr. Kovalenko's rights to testify, to confrontation, to participate, and to an interpreter.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sergey Kovalenko and his family immigrated to the United States from Russia after Mr. Kovalenko was persecuted for his Christian faith. CP 126; RP 839. Mr. Kovalenko and his wife have 17 children together. RP 826. They raised their children according to their strict religious faith. RP 833-34.

The State charged Mr. Kovalenko with 11 counts alleging sexual acts with three of his daughters. CP 53-56. Mr. Kovalenko primarily speaks Russian and needed an interpreter to understand and participate in the criminal proceedings against him. RP 4-6, 18.

During jury selection, the court denied Mr. Kovalenko's for-cause challenge to Juror 9, who explained she did not think she could be fair and impartial because of the nature and number of charges. RP 298-99, 310-12, 410-13. The trial court also did not question Juror 9 when she suggested she would be

biased against immigrants who had not learned to speak English after spending many years in the United States. RP 352. Mr. Kovalenko exhausted his peremptory challenges, and Juror 9 sat on his jury. RP 428-32.

Throughout the trial, the State focused on Mr. Kovalenko's Christian faith and beliefs and highlighted the Kovalenko children's strict upbringing because of their religion. RP 464, 476-88. The State also attacked Mr. Kovalenko and his wife for their religious beliefs and portrayed Mr. Kovalenko as a religious radical. RP 592-94, 907, 926-28, 934-35. Finally, the State invoked religion during closing argument and contrasted God's inability to protect the children with law enforcement's role in saving the children. RP 996-97, 1017.

Mr. Kovalenko testified in his own defense and unequivocally denied the allegations. RP 835-36. Mr. Kovalenko objected to the court's instruction that it "shall not be necessary" for the prosecution to corroborate the alleged

victims' testimony to convict him. CP 83 (No. 25); RP 956. The jury convicted Mr. Kovalenko on all counts. CP 99-109.

E. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals' newly invented additional requirement to preserve a challenge to a biased juror defeats the constitutional right to an impartial jury.

The trial court incorrectly denied Mr. Kovalenko's cause challenge to Juror 9, Mr. Kovalenko exhausted his peremptory challenges, and the biased juror sat. The Court of Appeals invented a new, additional requirement for preservation by holding Mr. Kovalenko waived his challenge because he could have removed the juror with a peremptory challenge before he exhausted them. This Court should accept review of this significant constitutional issue of substantial public interest and reverse this opinion that conflicts with opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

a. <u>This Court's precedent does not support the new</u> requirement the Court of Appeals created to preserve a challenge to a biased juror.

State v. Talbott held a person must exhaust their peremptory challenges to appeal a court's erroneous denial of a motion to strike a biased juror for cause. 200 Wn.2d 731, 733, 521 P.3d 948 (2022). *Talbott* resolved a conflicting line of cases about the need for exhaustion and narrowly limited its holding to the facts of the case. *Id.*

In a misguided and unwarranted deviation from *Talbott*, the Court of Appeals created a new rule that not only requires people to exhaust their peremptory challenges but also forces them to exercise peremptory challenges in a particular way at a particular time. *Kovalenko*, 546 P.3d at 518-20. The court ruled if a person has any opportunity to use one of their limited peremptory challenges to remove the biased juror, they waive their challenge to the juror by failing to strike the juror. *Id.* at 520. This has never been the rule in Washington. Mr. Kovalenko moved to strike Juror 9 for cause and exhausted his peremptory challenges. RP 411-13. But because Mr. Kovalenko had a peremptory challenge when the court sat Juror 9, the Court of Appeals ruled he waived his right to challenge the court's wrongful denial of his motion to strike her for cause. *Kovalenko*, 546 P.3d at 518-20.

The Court of Appeals' invention of a new, additional requirement for exhaustion is inconsistent with this Court's requirements in *Talbott* and the cases on which *Talbott* relied. In *Talbott*, the defendant did not exhaust his peremptory challenges following the court's denial of his motion to strike the juror in question. 200 Wn.2d at 733. Therefore, this Court held he waived the challenge. *Id.* Conversely, Mr. Kovalenko moved to strike Juror 9 and exhausted his peremptories. RP 411-13, 428-32.

The opinion's new requirement upends this Court's wellsettled law that where a juror demonstrates a probability of bias, trial courts must grant motions to strike them for cause, and that a person preserves the challenge by exhausting their peremptory challenges. *Talbott*, 200 Wn.2d at 733; *State v. Sassen Van Elsloo*, 191 Wn.2d 798, 807-09, 425 P.3d 807 (2018); *State v. Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d 831, 838-39, 809 P.2d 190 (1991).

 b. <u>The Court of Appeals opinion affirming Mr.</u> <u>Kovalenko's convictions even though he</u> <u>demonstrated Juror 9 was probably biased conflicts</u> <u>with Noltie and Sassen Van Elsloo and violates Mr.</u> <u>Kovalenko's right to an impartial jury.</u>

Juror 9 said she would not be a good fit as a juror because she would view Mr. Kovalenko's case in the context of "protecting my own child." RP 311-12; *see also* RP 298-99. She expressed concerns she could not be fair because of the number of alleged victims making accusations. RP 410 ("The problem that I have is there is so many of the victims, there is just so many for me that just makes it very real and very, um, well convicted."). She admitted she was not sure she "could make a fair assessment" because "it seems already the evidence is already so piled up ... with so many it just seems. It's already out there." RP 411. When asked if she was willing to be a juror, she agreed she was willing but again expressed concern about her ability to be fair and impartial. "I can't erase my thoughts already." RP at 412-13.

Mr. Kovalenko moved to strike Juror 9 for cause. RP 411-13. The court denied the motion. RP 413.

When a potential juror "has formed a biased opinion and, as a result, cannot try the case impartially," the court must dismiss the juror. *Sassen Van Elsloo*, 191 Wn.2d at 808. A person need only prove the juror has "a probability of actual bias." *Id.* at 809 (quoting *Noltie*, 116 Wn.2d at 838-39). A probability of actual bias exists when a juror consistently makes statements of partiality or bias and does not disavow those statements. *See id.* at 808-10; RCW 4.44.170(2); RCW 4.44.190.

A juror's statement "she did not think she could be fair" is an "unqualified statement" of actual bias requiring dismissal. *State v. Irby*, 187 Wn. App. 183, 196, 347 P.3d 1103 (2015). Juror 9's statements showed she probably could not be fair, demonstrating a probability of bias. The trial court violated Mr. Kovalenko's right to an impartial jury when it denied his motion to strike and empaneled Juror 9. The Court of Appeals' refusal to reverse Mr. Kovalenko's convictions in the face of the violation of his right to an impartial jury merits this Court's review.

- 2. The Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this Court's precedent because it failed to apply the objective observer test when it reviewed the trial court's error in not questioning or removing a juror who expressed bias against Mr. Kovalenko's national origin and need for an interpreter.
 - a. <u>The trial court failed in its independent duty to</u> <u>address juror bias based on national origin.</u>

A trial judge "has an independent obligation to protect" the accused's right to remove a biased juror, "regardless of inaction by counsel or the defendant." *Irby*, 187 Wn. App. at 193; *see Pena-Rodriguez v. Colorado*, 580 U.S. 206, 224, 137 S. Ct. 855, 197 L. Ed. 2d 107 (2017) ("unaddressed" racial bias displayed by jurors "risk[s] systemic injury to the administration of justice"). Thus, courts must excuse biased jurors even in the absence of a motion to strike. *State v. Guevara Diaz*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 843, 855, 456 P.3d 869 (2020); RCW 2.36.110. A juror who cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of a party is actually biased, and the court must remove them. *Irby*, 187 Wn. App. at 194; *see* CrR 6.4(c). This is especially true of jurors demonstrating bias based on factors such as a person's race, ethnicity, or national origin. *State v. Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d 647, 667, 444 P.3d 1172 (2019).

A juror's "bias based on race and ethnicity may be explicit or implicit," and "evidence of actual racial and ethnic bias can be subtle." *State v. Gutierrez*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 815, 820-21, 513 P.3d 812 (2022). Courts must be alert to answers reflecting such biases.

In *Gutierrez*, a juror's made comments demonstrating they believed the defendant's immigration status was connected to the determination of guilt. *Id.* at 818. The Court of Appeals

held the juror's comments required the trial court to inquire about the juror's potential bias. *Id.* at 82-24. The court's failure to do so required reversal. *Id.* at 826. A court's duty to ensure the impartiality of jurors is heightened in such instances because of the importance of "eradication of racial and ethnic bias in the justice system, even when this requires more proactive measures." *Id.* at 823.

b. <u>The Court of Appeals disregarded this Court's cases</u> requiring application of the objective observer test.

"Whether explicit or implicit, purposeful or unconscious, racial bias has no place in a system of justice. If racial bias is a factor in the decision of a judge or jury, that decision does not achieve substantial justice, and it must be reversed." *Henderson v. Thompson*, 200 Wn.2d 417, 421-22, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022), *cert. denied*, 143 S. Ct. 2412 (2023); *Peña-Rodriguez*, 580 U.S. at 222-23; U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

The pervasive evil of bias based on race, ethnicity, or nationality, and its difficulty to detect, requires courts to assess the impact of such apparent biases under an objective observer test. *State v. Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d 777, 793-94, 522 P.3d 982 (2023); *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 718, 512 P.3d 512 (2022); *Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d at 665. Courts must ask whether an objective observer could conclude the juror harbored racial or ethnic biases, including nationality-rooted prejudices that may impact their decision-making. *Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d at 665. An objective observer is aware of the history of race and ethnic discrimination in the United States and aware of implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination. *Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d at 718; *Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d at 665.

When a fact-finder invokes and demeans another based on their nationality as "other" than American, the jurors' behavior presents a risk of activating biases against people who appear to not be sufficiently American, which is often a code word for being not white. *Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d at 794-95.

The Court of Appeals did not apply the controlling test. Several jurors expressed biases against Mr. Kovalenko for moving to the United States and not fully assimilating by learning English. RP 351-55. When asked what they thought about Mr. Kovalenko using an interpreter, Juror 21 responded "I have lived in other countries and learned their language, and, um, I feel more respect towards someone who makes an effort. It sounds like he has been here a long time." RP 352. Juror 21 admitted the need for an interpreter would be "a little thumb [on the scale] against" Mr. Kovalenko. RP 352. Juror 9 agreed with Juror 21 and said, "I thought the same thing, how long, how long do you have to be here before you learn the general language to just live the life here pretty much." RP at 352.

The court asked no follow-up questions.

Juror 21 was ultimately excused, but Juror 9 sat on Mr. Kovalenko's jury. RP 428-31. Mr. Kovalenko challenged the court's failure to remove Juror 9 on appeal, both because of her inability to be fair and because of her bias against Mr. Kovalenko based on his foreign birth and failure to adopt traditional American norms. *Kovalenko*, 546 P.3d at 518-21. In considering Mr. Kovalenko's challenge to Juror 9's comments against Mr. Kovalenko's national origin and need for interpreter, the Court of Appeals did not apply the controlling objective observer test. *Id.* at 520-21. Instead, the court found Juror 9 demonstrated only "a mere possibility of prejudice" and excused the trial court's failure to inquire further or remove the juror. *Id.* at 521.

At the least, the trial court was obligated to inquire of Juror 9 and address the comments against Mr. Kovalenko's national origin and need for an interpreter. *Gutierrez*, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 822-26. By ignoring the issue and seating Juror 9, the trial court likely reinforced her biases. *See Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 432. And the Court of Appeals decision sidestepped the substantial concern raised about jurors who expressed nationality-based hostility by choosing a favorable, non-biased interpretation of Juror 9's comments. *Kovalenko*, 546 P.3d at 521. It also concluded Juror 9's answers "demonstrated a mere possibility of prejudice" but did not apply the objective observer standard, which would have required it to analyze whether an objective observer could have viewed Juror 9's comments as a proxy for racial discrimination. *Id*.

The Court of Appeals conducted the wrong analysis. Because Juror 9's comments evidenced a bias based on Mr. Kovalenko's race and need for an interpreter, this Court's cases required it to apply an objective observer standard. The opinion failing to do so conflicts with opinions of this Court and the Court of Appeals.

Finally, this Court should reject any argument that Mr. Kovalenko waived this challenge, either by not objecting on this particular ground or by not exercising a peremptory challenge against Juror 9, because Juror 9's bias is not subject to waiver. A person does not waive their challenge to bias based on race, ethnicity, or nationality by their attorney's failure to object. *Talbott*, 200 Wn.2d at 747 (applying *Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698). Courts must address claims involving certain kinds of bias in order to confront the discriminatory animus in our legal system. *Id*.

The court did not ensure that only impartial jurors served in Mr. Kovalenko's case. This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals decision is contrary to this Court's precedent, and there is an untenable risk of bias by a juror who served in the case. *Henderson*, 200 Wn.2d at 421-22; *Berhe*, 193 Wn.2d at 663-65.

- 3. This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals has repeatedly ruled it lacks authority to address the impropriety of the no-corroboration instruction because it is bound by this Court's 1949 decision in *Clayton*.
 - a. <u>The no-corroboration instruction improperly signals</u> <u>the jurors should give less scrutiny to the alleged</u> <u>victim's testimony and comments on the evidence.</u>

Because jurors are likely to be searching for and affected by signals from judges, Washington has an especially restrictive rule barring the court from conveying its impressions of witness testimony or evidence in a criminal case. *State v. Vaughn*, 167 Wash. 420, 425-26, 9 P.2d 355 (1932). "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." Const. art. IV, § 16. This prohibits a judge from commenting on "matters of fact" to a jury or "conveying to the jury his or her personal attitudes toward the merits of the case." *State v. Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d 736, 743-44, 132 P.3d 136 (2006) (quoting *State v. Becker*, 132 Wn.2d 54, 64, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997)). A comment on the evidence may occur through mere implication. *Id.* at 744.

In *Clayton*, this Court ruled that an instruction which said the defendant "may be convicted upon the uncorroborated testimony of the prosecutrix alone," was not a comment on the evidence. 32 Wn.2d at 577-78.

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