FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/29/2024 4:36 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 103024-0

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

SERGEY KOVALENKO, Appellant.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC J. RICHEY,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By HILARY A. THOMAS
Appellate Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #22007
311 Grand Avenue, Suite 201
Bellingham, WA 98225
https://doi.org/10.1001/j.nc/4.15
(360) 778-5710

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

E. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Kovalenko requests this Court accept review of a number of issues he failed to preserve at trial and raised for the first time on appeal. He has not shown a conflict with a Supreme Court case or amongst Court of Appeals authority warranting acceptance of review. The Court of Appeals decision found Kovalenko waived his for-cause challenge to a juror because he had an opportunity to exercise a peremptory challenge as to that juror, but didn't, although he ultimately used all his peremptory challenges. Kovalenko claims that is a "newly invented additional requirement." On the contrary, it is an extension of the rationale in State v. Talbott² to the factual circumstances of this case.

Kovalenko also asks this Court to adopt new analyses and/or standards of review regarding a few issues, seeking to expand the application of heightened standards of review

² State v. Talbott, 200 Wn.2d 731, 521 P.3d 948 (2022).

Appeals properly applied precedent as to the analyses regarding proof of actual bias, prosecutorial misconduct, and interpretation requirements. Kovalenko also asks this Court to overrule long-standing precedent, State v. Clayton³, regarding a non-corroboration jury instruction in sexual abuse cases, but fails to address the standard for overruling precedent.

Kovalenko's petition fails to demonstrate that his claimed issues fall within the narrow parameters for this Court's discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b).

1. The Court of Appeals decision determining that Petitioner waived his for-cause challenge as to one juror when he failed to exercise a peremptory challenge as to that juror, six times, was a logical application of this Court's rationale in State v. Talbott.

The purpose of peremptory challenges is to facilitate securing a fair and impartial jury. As such, it is reasonable to

³ State v. Clayton, 32 Wn.2d 571, 202 P.2d 922 (1949).

require a defendant to exercise a peremptory challenge as to a juror the defendant believes should have been stricken for cause. Requiring a party to cure, or waive, the statutory and court-rule based peremptory challenge right maximizes a defendant's constitutional right to an impartial jury and fair trial in the first instance. It encourages a party to correct known errors when they have an opportunity to so, instead of waiting until appeal to contest the denial in order to obtain automatic reversal of the conviction if successful.

The rationale applied in <u>State v. Talbott</u> applies equally to the factual scenario where, as here, a defendant fails to cure an alleged erroneous denial of a for-cause challenge by not striking that juror when they had the opportunity to do so.

<u>Talbott</u> held that a defendant who challenges a juror for cause may not appeal the denial of that challenge if the defendant did not exhaust their peremptory challenges, because a defendant cannot show prejudice from the retention of a particular juror if they fail to exhaust their peremptories. Talbott, 200 Wn.2d at

743-44. If defense knowingly chooses not to exercise a peremptory challenge to cure an alleged erroneous denial of a for-cause challenge as to that juror, they similarly cannot show prejudice from retention of that juror. In such circumstances, defense has made a strategic decision the juror was not objectionable, or certainly not as objectionable as the other jurors they chose to strike.

There is no constitutional right to peremptory challenges.

Ross v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 81, 88, 108 S.Ct. 2273, 101

L.Ed.2d 80 (1988). "They are a means to achieve the end of an impartial jury." Id. "[T]he forced use of a peremptory challenge is merely an exercise of the challenge and not the deprivation or loss of a challenge." State v. Fire, 145 Wn.2d

152, 162-63, 34 P.3d 1218 (2001), citing, U.S. v. Martinez
Salazar, 528 U.S. 304, 314-15 (2000). The U.S. Supreme Court has previously upheld state law requiring a defendant to use a peremptory challenge to cure an erroneous ruling regarding a for-cause challenge under the rationale that elevating the right

to an impartial jury over the "freedom to use a peremptory challenge as one wishes" does not violate due process. Ross, 487 U.S. at 90.

In <u>Talbott</u>, the court held that a defendant who does not exhaust their peremptory challenges cannot appeal the seating of an alleged biased juror. <u>Talbott</u>, 200 Wn.2d at 732. The court relied on a long line of precedent that "a party who accepts the jury panel without exhausting their peremptory challenges cannot appeal 'based on the jury's composition." Id. at 732, 743-44. The defendant is presumed then to be satisfied with the composition of the jury. Id. at 738-39. The court reached its conclusion in part because requiring exhaustion of peremptory challenges "encourages parties to cure jury-selection errors," thus promoting a defendant's right to an impartial jury and a fair trial. Id. at 738.

The court emphasized the benefits of requiring parties to exhaust peremptory challenges: promotion of the defendant's right to a fair trial; avoidance of unnecessary retrials; and

ensurance that peremptories are used "to promote, rather than inhibit, the exercise of fundamental constitutional rights." Talbott, 200 Wn.2d at 746. It noted to hold otherwise "could improperly discourage counsel from curing potential jury-selection errors ... in order to obtain reversal on appeal." Talbott, 200 Wn.2d at 746-47.4 See also, People v. Mills, 226 P.3d 276, 302 (Calif. 2010) ("a party may not complain on appeal of an allegedly erroneous denial of a challenge for cause because the party need not tolerate having the prospective juror serve on the jury.")

The Court of Appeals simply extended the rationale of

<u>Talbott</u> to the specific factual scenario here, where defense used

_

⁴ Requiring exhaustion of peremptories also encourages appropriate deference to the trial court's discretion in deciding for-cause challenges. *See*, Whiting v. State, 969 N.E.2d 24, 31 (Ind. 2012) ("Reviewing courts are properly resistant to second-guessing the trial judge's estimation of a juror's impartiality, for that judge's appraisal is ordinarily influenced by a host of factors impossible to capture fully in the record—among them, the prospective juror's inflection, sincerity, demeanor, candor, body language, and apprehension of duty.")

all their peremptory challenges, but chose not to exercise one, six times, with respect to the juror they claimed exhibited actual bias. Instead, defense chose to exercise peremptories regarding jurors they had not challenged for cause. In applying the Talbott rationale to its conclusion, the Court of Appeals followed the analysis announced in Division III's case of State v. Munzanreder, 199 Wn. App. 162, 398 P.3d 1160 (2017): "We hold, consistent with Munzanreder, and the policy outlined Talbott, that a party that unsuccessfully challenges a potential juror for cause, and then does not use any of their peremptory challenges to remove the challenged juror, and instead accepts the jury panel with the challenged juror, waives the right to have the for-cause challenge considered on appeal."

Defense challenged for cause eighteen jurors⁵ in addition to Juror 9. Juror 9 was one of only two challenges for cause not

⁵ Jurors 5, 11, 17, 23, 27, 30, 33, 41, 45, 46, 47, 52, 55, 57, 59, 61, 62, 63

granted by the judge. 6 Defense counsel then exercised his six peremptory challenges as to jurors⁷ none of whom he had challenged for cause. RP 428-30. Defense counsel had six times he could have stricken Juror 9, and chose not to six times. After the denial of the for-cause challenge, there was no question Juror 9 would be seated if defense counsel did not strike her with a peremptory. The judge even alerted defense counsel that he was on his sixth peremptory before he exercised his last one. RP 430. Defense did not object to the panel or request any extra peremptory challenges in order to remove Juror 9. RP 430-32. Under traditional waiver principles, Kovalenko waived his for-cause challenge by choosing not to cure the alleged error when he had an opportunity to do so.

As noted by the Court of Appeals, Kovalenko's desired approach could encourage the misuse of the peremptory

⁶ The other juror was Juror no. 52, who did not sit on the jury.

RP 427.

⁷ Jurors 34, 21, 13, 25, 22, and 1, in that order.

challenge process by discouraging "counsel from curing potential jury selection errors with peremptory challenges in order to obtain reversal on appeal." <u>Kovalenko</u>, 546 P.3d at 519. Petitioner's desired approach elevates a defendant's non-constitutional right to the use of peremptory challenges over the defendant's constitutional right to an impartial jury and fair trial. The Court of Appeals did not invent a new, additional, requirement, but applied <u>Talbott</u>'s rationale to the factual circumstances of this case.

Moreover, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the for-cause challenge. The juror's comments, when reviewed in context and as a whole, do not demonstrate that she was probably, actually biased.⁸

⁸ The State relies on its underlying briefing as to this argument.

2. The Court of Appeals decision applied the correct standard of review in determining the trial court did not abuse its discretion in not sua sponte disqualifying Juror 9 for comments related to use of an interpreter.

Kovalenko asserts this Court should accept review because the trial court had an independent duty to excuse jurors who exhibit actual bias and the Court of Appeals applied the wrong standard of review in determining the trial court did not err in not excusing the juror. The Court of Appeal applied the correct standard of review because the juror's query did not implicate Kovalenko's national origin or immigration status. Kovalenko has failed to show that Juror 9's query about how long it should take a person to learn general English after having resided in the country for a long time reflected unmistakable bias, requiring the trial judge to intercede in the traditionally sacrosanct jury selection process.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that trial courts have an independent duty to excuse a juror where that juror is actually biased. CrR 6.4; RCW 2.36.110. "Actual bias occurs

when there is 'the existence of a state of mind on the part of the juror in reference to the action, or to either party, which satisfies the court that the challenged person cannot try the issue impartially and without prejudice to the substantial rights of the party challenging." State v. Lawler, 194 Wn. App. 275, 281, 374 P.3rd 278, rev. den., 186 Wn.2d 1020 (2016); RCW 4.44.170(2). A juror's mere expression of an opinion is not sufficient to sustain a challenge for cause. Id. at 281; RCW 4.44.190. "...[T]he court must be satisfied, from all the circumstances, that the juror cannot disregard such opinion and try the issue impartially." RCW 4.44.190; State v. Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d 798, 808, 425 P.3d 807 (2018). "The question is whether a juror with preconceived ideas can set them aside." Sassen Van Elsloo, 191 Wn.2d at 809 (internal citations omitted). The record must demonstrate a probability of actual bias, not merely a possibility, to prove actual bias. Id. at 808-09.

Noting that a trial court has to be cautious to avoid injecting itself into the jury selection process, the Court of Appeals distinguished the case relied upon by Kovalenko, State v. Gutierrez, 22 Wn. App.2d 815, 513 P.3d 812 (2022), from the facts of this case. "A court must not wade into the jury selection process sua sponte dismissing jurors absent an unmistakable demonstration of bias." Lawler, 194 Wn. App. at 285 (emphasis added). The judge does not have an obligation to step in and clarify the extent of a juror's bias if the juror only expresses reservations about their ability to be impartial. State v. Phillips, 6 Wn. App. 2d 651, 666, 431 P.3d 1056 (2018), rev. den. 193 Wn.2d 1007 (2019).

In <u>Gutierrez</u>, the juror expressed actual bias by commenting that if the defendant was an immigrant, he was already guilty, that he shouldn't even be in the U.S. <u>Gutierrez</u>, 22 Wn. App.2d at 821. The court applied the GR 37 standard in order to determine whether the juror's comments reflected implicit racial bias. Id. at 822, 824.

Here, defense counsel asked if anyone had concerns about Kovalenko's use of an interpreter. During the ensuing discussion, Juror 9 queried as to how long someone has to live in a country to know the general language, in response to another juror's comment that he felt more respect for persons who make an effort to learn the language of the country in which they're living. She did not express any concerns or feelings about Kovalenko being Russian. Her query did not reflect that she could not be fair to someone who used an interpreter for legal proceedings. Voir dire is frequently used to educate jurors and to have an open discussion regarding topics of concern to the parties. In fact, after Juror 9's comment, two jurors indicated there is a distinction to be made between general knowledge of a language and knowledge required for legal proceedings, with one commenting that a person has a right to an interpreter if English is not their first language, and interpretation would assist them in understanding the proceedings better. One juror commented it is hard to learn

another language. RP 354. Defense counsel noted other jurors were responding to these comments by nodding their heads.

The Court of Appeals found that Juror 9's query did not amount to an unmistakable demonstration of bias warranting any sua sponte action on the part of the judge. Defense counsel did not inquire further of Juror 9 on this issue, did not move to strike her on this basis, or ask the judge to apply GR 37 in assessing Juror 9's ability to be fair. The Court of Appeals appropriately found that Juror's 9's comment about a person's general knowledge of English differed from the egregious actual bias expressed by the juror in Gutierrez. As noted by the Court, while Juror 9's comments might have reflected a possibility of prejudice, she did not express an opinion about Kovalenko's national origin or immigration status. Even if the Court were to apply the GR 37 standard, whether an objective observer, aware of implicit racial and ethnic bias and discrimination, could conclude the juror had exhibited *actual* bias with her limited comment, the answer should be no. The

Court of Appeals applied the relevant standard of review and correctly determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in failing to sua sponte excuse her for cause because Juror 9's comment did not reflect actual bias based on Kovalenko's national origin or immigration status.

3. The non-corroboration instruction used in this case accurately reflected the state of the law, and Petitioner fails to demonstrate that <u>Clayton</u> is incorrect and harmful.

Kovalenko asserts this Court should accept review in order to overrule this Court's long-standing precedent in State v. Clayton, 32 Wn.2d 571, 202 P.2d 922 (1949), that a non-corroboration instruction, reflected in RCW 9A.44.020(1), does not constitute an impermissible comment on the evidence.

While Kovalenko references a comment in the WPICs disapproving the giving of a non-corroboration instruction and notes comments in some Court of Appeals decisions questioning the appropriateness of such an instruction, he does not address the standard for overruling precedent. In order to

overrule <u>Clayton</u>, the Court would have to determine that the case's holding that such a non-corroboration instruction does not constitute a comment on the evidence is incorrect and harmful. Moreover, while attitudes may have evolved over the years since <u>Clayton</u> was issued, the instruction's purpose remains valid today where just a decade or so ago the MeToo Movement commenced, and where there is a growing desire of jurors to want, and require, CSI type of corroboration in order to find the elements of a crime met. Child sexual offenses are frequently committed under circumstances not capable of corroboration.

Article IV, Section 16, of the Washington Constitution states "[j]udges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." Const.

Art. IV §16. This provision prohibits judges from "conveying to the jury his or her personal attitudes towards the merits of the case or instructing a jury that 'matters of fact have been established as a matter of law." State v Levy, 156 Wn.2d 709,

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